CITY OF ELIZABETH CITY

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION
REGULAR MEETING

THURSDAY, December 12, 2013

4:30 PM

Chairman Golden called the meeting to order with the following members present: Roy Golden,
Gordon Adams, Richard Boyd, Georgene Falcon, Dorothy Rosenke and Marian Stokes. Also
present were Angela Cole, Sr. Planner and Dawn Harris, recorder.  An introduction of the
Commission members was made. It was stated for the record that the Commission had a quorum
with all members present.

Chairman Golden asked if there were any revisions or corrections to the agenda. Ms. Cole stated
that she would like to append to the printed agenda the election of a vice-chair under New
Business. There were no other revisions or corrections. Chairman Golden asked for a Motion to
adopt the agenda. Ms. Stokes made a motion to ADOPT the November 13, 2013 agenda. Ms.
Rosenke seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: GOLDEN, ADAMS, BOYD, FALCON,
ROSENKE and STOKES. MOTION PASSED.

Chairman Golden asked for approval or corrections of the minutes from the April 11, 2013
meeting. There were no corrections. Ms. Rosenke made a motion to APPROVE the April 11,
2013 minutes. Mr. Boyd seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: GOLDEN, ADAMS,
BOYD, FALCON, ROSENKE and STOKES. MOTION PASSED.

Chairman Golden made the following statement:

Prior to today’s meeting, notification was sent to neighbors living within 100” of the property in
question. Commission members received a copy of each application and were to visit the site.
North Carolina law provides that persons have an opportunity to address an application; thus the
Commission conducts a public hearing on the application. During the hearing the Commission
receives evidence to determine that proposed changes are not incongruous with the special
character of the historic district or the historic property. They review this evidence against
guidelines listed in the City’s ordinance before issuing a Certificate of Appropriateness. Each
application is heard the same way. The judicial format of the hearing requires that they be
impartial. Any written Staff comments are evidence presented just as any other evidence. If any
Commission member has had reason to discuss the specific details of the application, they ask to
be excused from hearing the application.

Because of the quasi-judicial format of the hearings, the Commission hears evidence and judges
whether the change is not incongruous. The Commission is required by North Carolina law to
swear in persons who speak before the Commission and offer evidence.

First item on the agenda was Application HP-06-13 submitted by Bobbi White of the City of
Elizabeth City Parks and Recreation Department for property located at 106 South Water Street.
The applicant is requesting to replace the awning located on the front facade with a fabric
awning as well as fabric awnings over the two new outside doors facing Mariner’s Wharf Park.

Page 1 of 15
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting
December 12, 2013



At this time Ms. Harris swore Mamie Hoffer, Kenneth Hoffer, Charlie Gordon and Bobbi White.
Ms. Cole gave the following report for Application HP-06-13.

STAFF REPORT

As stated, the first case for this evening is HP-06-13. The City of Elizabeth City is the applicant
being represented by our Director of Parks and Recreation, Ms. Bobbi White. This property is
located at 106 South Water Street, abutting Mariners’ Wharf Park and the historic Rochelle
Cleaners’ building. Staff emphasized as reported to the Commission, the property history. The
current structure is all that remains of the historic building that was erected. In 1915 a
streetscape photograph shows that there was a two-story building having a large metal cornice.
However, it was sometime in the mid 1920’s century that the second story was removed. So, the
Commission is dealing with a significant altered building. A Certificate of Appropriateness was
issued in 2009 for this property to the previous owner, Mr. Mack Sawyer, authorizing the
installation of wall signage. There have been recent improvements to the structure: the creation
of two secondary entryways along the south elevation (the side abutting the park) as well as new
signage. Staff would like the Commission to consider and add to its decision the approval or
authorization of the entryways and signage with whatever conditions or reprimands the
Commission sees fit. Certainly, Staff would like to get those in the record acknowledged by this
Commission and approved.

The petitioner’s request is outlined on page six of the Staff Analysis. Primarily, it is the removal
of the existing wood and asphalt shingled awning, the installation of an aluminum frame and
fabric awning on the front entrance as well as awnings on the secondary entrances on the side
abutting the park. The awning will contain signage and a message indicating EC Downtown,
Inc., the current occupant of the building.

Planning Staff does not object to the installation of the awning, the replacement of the stucco that
was once on the building. This update to the building is well needed and deserved. Along with
the National Park recommendations; because this building has already been altered the
Commission really needs to consider the building in its context—where it sits in the district and
its use over its actual construction, because the second-story (its original construction) is no
longer there.

Ms. Cole stated that if there were any questions she would answer them.
Chairman Golden asked if there were any questions from the Commission. There were none.

Ms. Stokes asked Ms. Cole what the Commission needed to do regarding the items that were
done without approval. Ms. Cole stated that the items would be added to the motion being made
for approval. At this stage the Commission would need to hear from the applicant.

Chairman Golden called for the applicant to come forward. Ms. Bobbi White came forward with
the following overview.

Ms. White thanked the Commission for allowing her to come before them on behalf of the City
of Elizabeth City and the Elizabeth City-Pasquotank County Parks and Recreation Department.

Page 2 of 15
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting
December 12, 2013



The City is requesting to replace the awning on the front facade of the Mariners’ Wharf building,
formerly known as the Mack Sawyer building located at 106 South Water Street. The City
purchased this property in December, 2012 with the idea of renovating the building to house the
ECDI office as well as to construct storage rooms, public restroom facilities and
shower/restroom facilities for the incoming boaters that travel along the inter-coastal waterway
that dock in our City. In the process of renovating the inside of the building it was discovered
that the attached awning of plywood and asphalt shingles was rotten and beyond repair. In the
process of trying to repair the awning it was also discovered that the bricks behind the awning
were cracked, loose and missed the cement grout. This awning has since been removed due to
the decay and structural concerns that it may crumble and cause injury. Staff would like to
replace this wooden awning with a 14’ x 18” welded aluminum frame with a fabric awning above
the front entrance. Staff would also have to repair and replace some of the brick and degraded
stucco. The stucco would be an oyster color very similar to that put on the building when it was
renovated in the 1990’s. There are also two new entrances located along the Mariners’ Wharf
side of the building. The large metal double doors will enter into the storage room for the Parks
and Recreation Department to house the tents used for the Downtown Waterfront Market. The
second entrance is a single metal door that will lead into a hallway. In the hallway will be public
restrooms, as well as the shower and restroom facilities for the boaters. Staff would also like to
place the same type of aluminum frame awnings above both of these doors. All three awnings
will be fixed aluminum frame structures, covered with weatherproof forest green Sunbrella®
fabric. Ms. White stated that Ms. Cole has the fabric sample. The front entrance will have 9-
inch scalloped valance with 6-inch gold lettering of EC Downtown, Inc. The side-door
structures will also be fixed aluminum frame structures, covered with weatherproof forest green
Sunbrella® fabric and a 9-inch scalloped valance. However, these awnings will not have any
graphics or lettering. The City feels that these new awnings will enhance the building, as well as
remain consistent with the other buildings along Water Street.

Ms. White stated that she would be happy to answer any questions from the Commission.

Chairman Golden asked for questions from the Commission. There was none at this time.
Chairman Golden asked when there is an event on the “green” such as musical events or movies,
often times there is a canopy/patio area. Ms. White stated that it would still be there. Chairman
Golden asked how it fits. Ms. White stated in looking at the pictures provided in the packet you
can see that the pavilion canopy is off to the far right. There is a door to the left of canopy and
the double doors are even closer to the street structure. Chairman Golden stated that she had not
seen that in the picture. She asked for what reason did they want the awnings over the two side
doors. Ms. White stated weather protection.

Chairman Golden asked if there were any other questions or discussion. Ms. Rosenke asked if
there was adequate lighting for pedestrians going into the showers. Ms. White stated that she
believed so because there is a big light at the corner. She stated that she does not think there will
be an issue with the lighting. She stated to use the restroom facilities they will be open Monday
through Friday from 8:00 AM to 5:00 PM. If there is an event, they will be left open until the
event is over. There will be a code for the shower facilities because you will have to pay to use
them. The showers will not be open all night long. It will only be available during the opening
hours of the restrooms. Ms. Falcon asked if the bathrooms would have a code or key. Ms.
White stated no. Mr. Adams asked if the facilities were open to the public as well as the boaters.

Page 3 of 15
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting
December 12, 2013



Ms. White stated yes. Chairman Golden stated much like Edenton’s. Ms. White stated that
Edenton does have a Harbor Master. Chairman Golden asked if they would consider putting a
light fixture on that side of the building as Ms. Rosenke questioned. Ms. White stated that it is
light enough. There is a street light right there. During movie nights they have to cut the light
off so you can see the screen.

Ms. Stokes asked if they were going to do the bracket sign. Ms. White stated that the EDCI sign
would be on the valance. Ms. White stated that when she and Ms. Cole spoke with Ms. Cross it
was decided to keep the bracket sign and do away with the wall signage. The bracket sign there
now will remain and the wall sign will be taken off. Ms. Stokes stated that she likes the bracket
signs because you can see them as you walk up and down the street. Ms. White stated you can
see them while driving as well.

Chairman Golden asked if there were further questions or discussion. There being none she
called for a motion. Mr. Boyd made a motion to accept this proposal as written giving the
applicant permission to put up the awnings. Ms. Falcon seconded the motion. ALL IN
FAVOR: GOLDEN, ADAMS, BOYD, FALCON, ROSENKE and STOKES. MOTION
PASSED.

Ms. Cole made a suggestion that the Commission address the new doors. She stated that Mr.
Boyd could modify his motion.

Mr. Boyd stated that right now the doors are just plain gray steel doors and asked if they were to
be painted. Ms. White stated that they would be painted forest green. Mr. Boyd stated that from
a longevity standpoint what has been put in [steel doors] is proper. They are just ugly right now
with the gray primer. The forest green to match the awning would make sense.

Mr. Boyd stated that he amends his motion to approve the installed steel doors and the forest
green paint. Mr. Adams seconded the amendment. ALL IN FAVOR: GOLDEN, ADAMS,
BOYD, FALCON, ROSENKE and STOKES. MOTION PASSED.

Next item on the agenda was Application HP-05-13 by Kenneth and Mamie Hoffer for property
located at 615 East Main Street. The applicant is requesting to make exterior changes to the
subject property to include but not limited to painting of bricks, roof repair, window
replacements, fence construction and installation, and other landscaping features. Chairman
Golden asked Ms. Cole for the Staff Report.

STAFF REPORT

Case 05-13 involves property located at 615 East Main Street. This property is at the southwest
intersection of East Main and South Water Streets. The Commission has the summary of Pure
Oil buildings as well as Elizabeth City’s specific structure in the Staff Analysis. The previous
Commission heard a case involving this property in 2007. Previous owners Woodhall,
Incorporated petitioned this body for a Certificate to demolish the structure. The Commission
granted that Certificate with a year deferment. That Certificate was never acted upon. The
Commission has historic photos of the building. Staff also provided to the Commission photos
of other rehabilitation/restoration projects not only within North Carolina, but across the country
involving this type of structure; the Pure Qil building specifically as well as Colonial Qil. Staff

Page 4 of 15
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting
December 12, 2013



outlined the petitioner’s request taking from their printed application document. Staff asked that
the Commission goes slow and make sure that they get the details correct. Ms. Cole stated that
she may have missed some things, but she is sure that the Hoffers can add details and fill in the
blanks so the Commission can get the complete picture. The Commission has their footprint, as
well as photographs superimposing the improvements that they choose to make on the structure
and to the property. In light of that Staff, starting on page 14 outlined for the Commission item
by item some of their [Staff] reservations regarding the proposed improvements.

Ms. Cole stated that she would answer any questions the Commission has. She stated that there
was a pre-application meeting with the property owners as well as the regional SHPO
representative, State Historic Preservation Office representative Reid Thomas. He offered some
suggestion to the renovation of the structure. The project is eligible for tax credits. Ms. Cole
stated that she believes the property owners/applicants have chosen not to opt into the credits.
That does not affect what the Commission entertains at this meeting.

Chairman Golden asked to hear from the petitioners. Mr. Hoffer came forward. He stated that
there had been a lot of changes that have been made and that he had tried to call today to see if
the meeting should go on. He has signed the contract and has a signed contract to buy the
building next door at 705 Water Street. Their intention is to open up with an arch from the Pure
Oil into the building next door and move their kitchen. He stated it would give them a lot more
room. There would be two bathrooms and water that already exist. The existing handicap
bathroom in the Pure Station will serve as the only handicap bathroom. There would be a men’s
and women’s bathroom in the new building. Most of what they were going over tonight was
before this happened. The contract has been signed by both parties and they are expecting to
close with Wells Fargo on the 16™ of December. Mr. Hoffer stated that he wasn’t sure if they
should just not go forward with this meeting. The bathroom that was going to be proposed that
was outside where the outhouse is now will not be required, which is an advantage.

Ms. Cole asked regarding the Pure Oil building, if the Hoffers would still like to consider the
landscaping and concrete changes, the windows. She stated that the Commission can still
discuss those items and then revisit the archway and connection to the 105 building at a
subsequent meeting. Mr. Hoffer stated that would be fine. Ms. Cole stated that she did not know
if it changes what he wants to do to the front of the Pure Qil building. Mr. Hoffer stated no that
it doesn’t. The front of the building will be the same with the windows being the same, the
lamps and columns. Ms. Cole stated in hearing that, if the Commission would like to hear those
limited elements that deal with the parking area changes, fencing, the columns and light fixtures
to this Pure Oil building that would just take the restroom off the table. Chairman Golden stated
that she is a little confused as to the tie in to what was the former cupcake house/chocolate
house. She asked if that was the building the Hoffers bought. Mr. Hoffer stated yes. Chairman
Golden stated that the landscaping, fencing and post to incorporate that it doesn’t seem that the
Commission has enough information. Mr. Boyd asked if they were going to knock a wall out
between the two buildings. Mr. Hoffer stated that they are going to put a large arch. It won’t be
just a door. It will pass directly into the building. The way it is situated, what was going to be
the old small kitchen will now be where this door is located? Chairman Golden asked a question
regarding the parking. Mr. Hoffer stated that the parking will stay the same; the fence will stay
the same. The bricks on the building will be the same. Ms. Cole stated that she thinks what may
be the disconnect here is that there is a common wall. They are going to take out a piece of the

Page 5 of 15
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting
December 12, 2013



Pure Oil wall that physically abuts the Chocolate House. So you won’t be coming outside, you
will just go through the building. Mr. Hoffer stated yes, the walls are right next to each other.
Ms. Cole stated there is nothing right now to consider that deals with the aesthetics of the
outside. Ms. Cole stated that she thinks the Commission would want to address the Pure Oil
building. Mr. Adam stated that the major change is that they will not have the restroom outside
with everything else dealing with the building remains the same. Mr. Hoffer stated correct the
windows that were requested, the fence and the parking. Mr. Adams asked if they would need
approval before they do anything else. He asked Mr. Hoffer if they were being held up. Mr.
Hoffer stated this meeting, if they had not changed their plans and bought this building, would
cover the whole application including the outside bathroom that was requested but no longer
needed. Mr. Boyd stated that in reality what they will be doing in the other building being inside
is really none of the Commission’s business. That particular portion of the job is irrelevant to the
Commission. Mr. Boyd asked about the mop station. Mr. Hoffer stated that the mop station will
be outside with hot and cold running water. Ms. Cole stated that there are two physical walls. It
deals with the exterior of two different buildings both within the district. There was discussion
regarding the two buildings. Mr. Boyd stated he would think that it would be a question for the
Building Inspector. Ms. Cole stated that yes it is a question for the Building Inspector. Itis on a
rear elevation not to be seen so the Commission can certainly say that we have to consider it; we
have to approve it or disapprove it. There has to be a decision made about it; however, the
Commission may waive the considerations of the change being made to a rear elevation different
from the front elevation. Mr. Gordon stated that pass-through between the two buildings would
be from the inside of the Pure Oil Station. There would be no external pass-through. Mr.
Gordon indicated that the distance between the two structures is small. He stated that you cannot
physically see the pass-through from the outside. The back of the Pure Qil Station abuts the side
of the other structure. He stated that they will just be knocking out a whole in the wall inside the
Pure QOil Station to enter into the Water Street building. No physical outside changes. Mr. Boyd
asked if they were keeping the front entrance on Water Street. Mr. Gordon stated yes. Mr.
Adams asked which building was the oldest. Mr. Gordon stated that he would say the Pure Oil
building. Mr. Hoffer stated that the Water Street building was built after the Pure Oil. You can
tell the way that the wall has been constructed. He stated that water was running down between
the two buildings before Mr. Gordon repaired the roof. Mr. Gordon stated that actually in the
back wall of the Pure QOil Station in the kitchen area they were going to use has a window that
faced the Water Street building before the Water Street building was built. He stated that it
appears that way. Mr. Gordon stated that he did not know how old the Water Street building is.
The owner he worked for was Cyrus Aydlette and whether Cyrus had constructed it or purchased
it before he moved in he did not know. Mr. Gordon worked for Mr. Aydlette in the late 1970’s.
He stated that obviously from the inside of the Pure Oil Station with the window that is on the
back wall there was at one time a vacant lot or certainly a lot that allowed you to see out that
window.

Chairman Golden asked if there were any other questions from the Commission. There were
none at this time. She stated that they would take Ms. Cole’s suggestion that the Commission
take items 1 through 21 and go through them one by one. She asked if there were any objections
to this. There were none. Ms. Stokes stated that number 16 dealing with the bathroom could be
left off.

Page 6 of 15
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting
December 12, 2013



Ms. Cole stated that the neighboring structure was built in 1885; which is older than the Pure Oil
Station.

The Commission went through the following outline of proposed changes:

1. Exterior painting

a. Body: Off-white
b. Trim/accent: Blue (to identically match the existing roof tile, doors and shutters)

Mr. Boyd asked if the brick was going to be painted the off-white color. Mr. Hoffer stated that
was correct. Chairman Golden asked if the brick had been cleaned. Mr. Hoffer stated no that it
was going to be powered washed and pointed. Chairman Golden stated that there are guidelines
for cleaning. Chairman Golden asked Staff to make sure Mr. Hoffer has a copy of the guidelines.

2. Repointing of mortar joints
a. Mortar Color: Unspecified

Chairman Golden stated that she didn’t believe the Commission needed to discuss number two.
Ms. Rosenke stated that there are guidelines for repointing. Chairman Golden stated yes there is
and the Hoffers will be supplied with a copy of those guidelines. Ms. Rosenke stated that the
color is unspecified and asked if the Hoffers would match what they have now. Ms. Stokes
stated that it doesn’t really matter if they are going to paint the bricks.

3. Replacement of broken roof tiles

a. Color: Unspecified
b. Specifications and composition: Unspecified

Chairman Golden stated that she is concerned that they can find these roof tiles. Mr. Gordon
stated that there are sites apparently that you can find on the internet that may have those similar
tiles for purchase. But, on the back of the building that you cannot see there are a number of tiles
that have in the past been removed from the roof. There are still a number of tiles on the back
that could be removed and used on the front portion of the roof. Chairman Golden asked what
they would cover that area with after removing the tile. Mr. Gordon stated that it has been
covered in the past with asphalt shingles. The two smaller areas from the west and the center
part of the builder have been completely removed all the way up to the ridge. The smaller area
facing Water Street has been removed all the way up to the ridge, but the main center—the taller
part—has only been removed half way up to the ridge and there are plenty of these tiles available
from this space. At this point in time he does not see any more than a dozen shingles and that
would constitute one course across. Chairman Golden stated that the roof in essences has been
compromised. Mr. Gordon stated that the front has not been compromised. But, % of the back
has been removed to the ridge. Mr. Adams asked if they would modify item 3 with using tiles
from the back for the front. He stated that would be a more logical way to state it. Mr. Gordon
stated yes if they can possibly use the tiles on the building now in the rear that is what they
would use to replace any broken tile on the front. Ms. Cole asked if she had understood Mr.
Gordon to say that they would look for tiles to replace the ones on the back. Mr. Gordon stated
that they know that there are possible websites that may have those tiles for sale. But, we don’t
know what the price would be or whether it would be prohibitive being there are some that are
available. Mr. Gordon stated that the plan is at this point for the rear of the building not to be

covered with asphalt shingles. He stated they would probably use a painted metal roof panel of
Page 7 of 15

Historic Preservation Commission Meeting

December 12, 2013



similar color. So, if you could see it from the backside at least you would see a color equal to
what is there now. He stated that there is not requirement that he knows of that would require
them to replace the shingles on the backside that have been removed. Ms. Cole stated other than
this body. Mr. Gordon stated what they are going to do is cover the backside with a metal panel
that would be more permanent than shingles and will also reflect the color of the existing tile.
Ms. Falcon asked if that would be like a seamless panel painted blue. Mr. Gordon stated that it
would come already pre-painted. Ms. Rosenke asked if they were able to match the color with it
being pre-painted. Mr. Gordon stated the color is close. It may be two or three shades off. In
time the metal panel paint will eventually fade to a lighter color. It will never actually match, but
it will be as close as practical. Ms. Stokes stated that it would be better than an asphalt shingle.
Chairman Golden stated that she had a question regarding the integrity of the historic property.
She stated that it is a historic property and is supposed to be maintained as a historic property.
Metal roofs are not historic for this building. Mr. Gordon stated not for this building, but does
this committee involve itself with the part of the building that cannot be seen. He stated you
have no jurisdiction on the inside; do you have jurisdiction on the outside that cannot be seen
physically. Ms. Cole stated yes and Chairman Golden stated yes. Mr. Gordon stated that if the
Commission’s requirement is that they find these tiles and replace the ones that are missing from
past removals it seems a little extreme, but he stated that he could understand where the
Commission may want them to do that. Ms. Cole stated that Staff’s would at least like the
applicant to provide some research being done on the availability and cost of the tiles. This body
has waived those types of situations before when we have dealt with windows. The roof is
significant to this structure along with the window items and whether the roof is visible from the
street elevation or not it is still important. Ms. Cole stated that she doesn’t see the delay if the
Commission is going to have to rehear items on the case anyway. Mr. Gordon stated that in the
1940’s there was a fire in the building and the attic was scorched. A number of the roof supports
have been damaged and the extensive amount of weight that would be put back replacing the
area that has been removed may require further structural stability for the roof before the tiles
could be added; whereas, the metal roof will not require any further structural “beefing” up. Mr.
Boyd stated that the paint is fine; the mortar is fine it just needs to be covered with paint.
Regarding the roofing tiles, the Commission has when in the past people have had slate roofs and
not be able to afford the cost and have gone back to architectural shingles. Mr. Boyd stated if his
house had to have a new slate roof he would have to move. The fact that they have some tiles in
the back that they can reuse in the front to make the front pristine is wonderful. The only people
that will probably be upset by a metal roof would be the helicopters that fly over. No one is
going to see it. If they could find a reasonable source for the tiles that would great, but from a
construction standpoint, salvaging what’s good and putting something on the back that no one is
ever going to see makes sense. Mr. Boyd stated that is just his personal opinion. You can’t see
it, it is in the back. Ms. Stokes stated that she thinks it is one of the things the Commission can
put on hold and if they will be willing to do some investigating to see what it would take to
purchase the tiles; if they can find the tiles. She stated that would be the ideal thing as far as the
Commission is concerned from a historic perspective. Chairman Golden stated also the cost of
the structural supports should be figured in. She requested that estimate be given as well.

Chairman Golden asked for a motion with modifications on items 1-3. Ms. Stokes made a
motion to accept the paint color and the mortar. It is also recommended that the roof tiles
[item 3] be tabled until further information is obtained. Ms. Rosenke amended by adding

Page 8 of 15
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting
December 12, 2013



that the cleaning of the brick and repointing of the mortar follow the guidelines provided so
no damage is done to the building. Ms. Falcon seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR:
GOLDEN, ADAMS, BOYD, FALCON, ROSENKE and STOKES. MOTION PASSED.

4. Replacement of window panes in two windows on east elevation with insulated (double-
pane) glass;

Mr. Boyd asked if they were going to just replace the glass. Mr. Gordon stated that what they
want to do if they can is just keep the glass and metal frame intact without removing the glass
and add glass on the inside. Mr. Boyd stated it would be a reversed storm window. Chairman
Golden stated that is not what it says in the application. She stated that she did not see how
double-panes would fit in those casement windows. Ms. Cole stated that the application
indicated an installation of a therma-pane. She apologized if she had misinterpreted that
information. Mr. Boyd stated that actually a storm window on the inside would give some
energy efficiency because the metal casements allow the hot and cold to come through. An
interior panel is the best way to go. Mr. Adams asked if item four would be revised. Chairman
Golden stated that the Commission is substituting, and the minutes will reflect.

5. Removal of the secondary access door, window and infill material on front (E Main
Street) elevation;

Ms. Falcon stated that removal of that door will change the look of the building from when it
was originally built. Mr. Boyd stated that was actually a garage door. It has already been
altered. Mr. Gordon stated that the garage door opening has been framed-up, a mason like type
siding was put on that area; a hole was cut through for an aluminum framed window. Also a
storm door and wooden entry door was put in the space. Mr. Adams asked what the intent is to
replace it. Mr. Gordon stated that they would like to replace the petition with a similar cooper
bay window. The size of the window would be proportional to the space available. Chairman
Golden asked if they plan to keep the little window. Mr. Gordon stated yes. The window
between the bay window and the garage door is going to be enlarged to the original size before
being bricked in. Ms. Stokes was concerned that replacing where the bay door was and changing
it to something totally different is not restoring. Ms. Hoffer asked if the Commissioner would
like to see a garage door in that space. Ms. Stokes stated that the garage door is recommended
because that is what was there originally. Ms. Hoffer stated that the door would be fine if the
building was a gas station, but they are not going to use it as a gas station. Ms. Stokes stated that
even if it was a false door, just as long as it looked like a garage door. Ms. Cole stated that she
had given the Commission a copy of the material on restoring historic gas stations. On page 13
there is an example of a garage door replacement. It is just panels of windows to give the look of
a garage door, but it is not an active service door. You can have that with or without a single
entry door carved into it. There is also an example in the packet of a converted Pure Oil Station
to a restaurant with outdoor patio seating where full-pane glass doors have been put in. Also
important when considering the addition of the bay window, Mr. Thomas had stressed at the time
of the pre-application meeting that replicating a historic feature does not do service to a
restoration project or rehabilitation project. Ms. Cole provided Ms. Hoffer with the examples of
the garage door that could be used. There were several options that could be done to give the
look of a garage door.

6. Installation of a second bay window of (slightly) larger size and scale to the existing on
the front (E Main Street) elevation; remaining area to be enclosed with brick and mortar
infill in similar pattern to the existing;

Page 9 of 15

Historic Preservation Commission Meeting
December 12, 2013



7. Construction and installation of a half-round window on the front (E Main Street)
elevation; window dimensions and composition details unspecified;

Ms. Rosenke stated that she believes the Commission would prefer the window to be restored to
what it originally was.

Following discussion Mr. Boyd made a motion to approve items 4 through 7 as follows: The
small windows will have an internal storm sash installed; the old garage door will have a mock
garage door installed—something that represents the original slide up service door that was
there; regarding number 7 the applicant will open the existing opening to what it was at one time
and put in a similar style casement window with muntins to match the rest of the windows in the
building. Chairman Golden stated that she would like to modify the garage door. She would
like to see the doors that have been done in other Pure Oil buildings. It is more esthetically
pleasing for a boutique. She pointed out the picture she was referring to. Mr. Boyd stated that
they were French doors. There was discussion regarding what the door would look like.
[Discussion included the Hoffers and Mr. Gordon.] Mr. Boyd had stated a mock service door. It
looks like an old fashion wood garage door. Ms. Cole stated that the applicant would be left the
option to add the single entry door. Mr. Boyd stated yes. Regarding item number 7 they will do
away with the half round and open the mason area opening up and install a casement window
that looks like the rest of the windows in the house. Ms. Stokes seconded the motion. ALL IN
FAVOR: GOLDEN, ADAMS, BOYD, FALCON, ROSENKE and STOKES. MOTION
PASSED.

8. Installation of shutters at all windows except the one, existing, and second, proposed, bay
windows; shutter details unspecified;

9. Replacement and installation of the building’s exterior light fixtures:

a. Color: white
b. Specifications and other detail: Unspecified

Mr. Boyd asked if there were shutters on the building now. It was stated no. Ms. Falcon asked
had there been shutters when the building was first built. Ms. Cole stated that Staff’s historic
photo of the building shows no shutters.

There are lights at multiple points. Ms. Cole provided sample photos of shutters and light
fixtures to give the Commission an idea of what the applicant has in mind. Ms. Stokes stated
that it was a tiny light fixture. Ms. Falcon stated that if you don’t have shutters matching on all
windows you should not have shutters period. =~ Mr. Boyd stated that the applicant did want
shutters on all windows. There was a brief discussion between the Commission members. Mr.
Adams stated that he would recommend no shutters. Chairman Golden agreed. Ms. Hoffer
questioned what the Commission would like regarding the shutters. Chairman Golden stated that
she thinks a motion needs to be made. Mr. Boyd stated on page 7 of the pictures. That window
has a telephone box on one side and a power box on the other. There is no room for a shutter
there. In reality these windows would have only one shutter. Following a brief discussion Ms.
Rosenke made a motion regarding items number 8 and 9.

Ms. Rosenke made a motion to allow the installation of the original light fixture. Ms. Falcon
stated that she was recommending that no shutters be installed keeping with the fact that there

Page 10 of 15
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting
December 12, 2013



had never been any shutters on the structure. Chairman Golden asked Ms. Rosenke to restate her
motion.

Ms. Rosenke made motion to allow the installation of the original light fixture and that no
shutters are to be included because they are not original to the building. Ms. Falcon seconded
the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: GOLDEN, ADAMS, BOYD, FALCON, ROSENKE and
STOKES. MOTION PASSED.

Ms. Cole stated to the Commission to remember while entertaining items 10, 11 and 12 that the
applicant provided a footprint.

10. Construction of sixteen (16) each 8-foot tall brick columns as supports for picket and
wrought iron fencing:

a. Brick and/or finish color: Unspecified
b. Dimensions: Unspecified
c. Detail and artistry/workmanship: Unspecified

11. Installation of approximately 22 linear feet of picket fencing, along the (remaining)
parking area:

a. Finish color: Unspecified
b. Picket Detail/Dimensions: Unspecified
c. Height (above grade): Unspecified [Staff estimates 6-foot tall]

12. Installation of approximately 90 linear feet (along E Main Street right-of-way and
approximately 10 along S Water Street right-of-way) fencing, gate, and archway
sheltering the gateway:

Height (above grade): 3 Feet

Fence and Gate Color: Black

Fence and Gate Composition: Wrought iron
Fence Detail/Workmanship: Unspecified
Gate Detail/Workmanship: See Photograph
Arch Detail: Unspecified

Mr. Hoffer gave description of how he would like the fence to run along the property. Ms.
Stokes stated that she feels eight feet seems really tall. Mr. Hoffer stated that the height is
determined by the gate. Ms. Hoffer stated that they already had the gate and they thought they
would have the fence fit the gate. Mr. Boyd stated that he could see maybe one side of the gate
being eight feet. Mr. Hoffer stated that the metal picket fence is three feet high. Mr. Boyd asked
how high the columns would be that holds the picket fence up. Mr. Hoffer stated that the
columns that will hold the gate are eight feet. Ms. Hoffer stated that the columns for the picket
fence will be shorter.

~o o0 o

It was confirmed that there will be two 8-foot columns by the gate, plus on the side for the
privacy fence. Chairman Golden stated that she thinks the size of the building has to be
considered, the size of the lot in proportion to the fence. She stated that you do not want fencing
overpowering the property. At that point the fence becomes a barrier and it is not inviting. It has
to be more appropriate in scale.

Mr. Boyd stated that there will be no brick columns. There will be aluminum base [Mr. Boyd
provided picture]. The only columns will be beside the entry gate on Main Street. The wrought

Page 11 of 15
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting
December 12, 2013



iron fence will be along the perimeter and the privacy fence will be on the side. Ms. Falcon
asked what the purpose in wanting to have the fence was. Mr. Hoffer stated that the iron fence is
to keep people from cutting through the property to get from Main Street to Water Street. Mr.
Gordon stated that the fence would also act as a barrier for the outside seating that is proposed.
You would have to actually enter through a front gate entry to come into the property to go in the
building or take a seat in the outside seating area. He stated it would be similar to what the City
Wine Sellar had outside. Ms. Falcon stated that this is a lot of fencing for this amount of
property. Mr. Gordon stated that the fence is one of the things in years to come that could be
removed without a lot of construction or demolition. Ms. Cole offered a modification of the
fence for the Commission to consider. She proposed stepping the fence in to hug what will be
the landscaped patio/dining area rather than to extend to the full corner where the sign post is.
An example was shown to the Commission by Ms. Cole.

Chairman Golden confirmed that the Commission has clarification on the columns, metal picket
fence. Ms. Stokes stated that it depends because the applicant is proposing taking the fence all
the way to the corner. Mr. Boyd stated that they are trying to keep people on the sidewalk.
There was discussion regarding the placement of the fence. Chairman Golden asked Mr. Hoffer
he envisioned the fence going all the way from Port Discover all the way down Main Street
turning up Water Street. Mr. Hoffer stated that the fence would run Main Street and would then
turn on Water a couple of links and stop. Cars can still get in the parking area. It also fences in
the garden around the sign pole. They plan on putting potted plants and signage in this area.

Ms. Cole clarified that on item number 10 the number of columns reduced from 16 to six: two on
Main and the remaining four along the privacy fence. She stated that she understood Mr. Hoffer
to say 18-inch square; height in accordance with the gate height. The brick finish was not
discussed as to whether it would be painted or not and left the natural color. There was no
change to number 11. Ms. Stokes stated that the only thing would be if it is to be painted or not.

Chairman Golden asked the applicant if the gate would be locked at night. Mr. Hoffer stated that
they had not considered locking it. Ms. Falcon stated that it probably would not need a lock as
anybody could climb over it if they wanted. Chairman Golden stated that it would also be a
hindrance to police and fire. Ms. Stokes asked the applicants if they were going to paint the
brick columns. Mr. Hoffer stated yes they would paint the columns. Ms. Cole stated on item
number 12 the Commission had addressed the fence itself, the gate and the photographs. The
Commission has not addressed the archway. Chairman Golden stated that she thinks the
archway is a bit overpowering on the property. She stated that she thinks the columns with the
gate are enough. Once you have a gate, you have made your statement. The archway is just
more of the same. She stated that she does see how they want to make it more of a garden-like
atmosphere and understands that; however, it is a place of business. You do want to encourage
people to come in. Mr. Hoffer stated that they can do away with the archway. Ms. Falcon stated
that artistically the building is all non-curving. It is all straight types of lines. The archway
would put another element of artistic design in it. Ms. Hoffer stated that she agrees with Mr.
Hoffer and the archway can be done away with.

Chairman Golden asked for a motion on items number 10, 11 and 12. Ms. Stokes made a motion
to approve the plans for six brick columns with the wrought iron fence. Two of the columns are
to be 8-feet tall for the gate and the remaining in keeping with the picket fence. The columns
will be painted white and 18-inches square. The picket fence will be approximately 22-feet that
will also be white. Approval is recommended for the installation of the wrought iron fence along

Page 12 of 15
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting
December 12, 2013



Main Street and approximately 10-feet along Water Street. The fence is to be 3-feet in height.
There is to be no archway. Mr. Boyd seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: GOLDEN,
ADAMS, BOYD, FALCON, ROSENKE and STOKES. MOTION PASSED.

Chairman Golden asked if the mop station is still on the outside of the Pure Oil building not in
the new building just purchased. Mr. Hoffer stated that the mop station is behind the wooden
picket fence. Ms. Hoffer stated that she doesn’t know why they would need the mop station
when the new building has so much room. It was agreed to remove number 15.

13. Planting of various shrubbery and seasonal flowers in on-premises sign base (located at
property northeast corner)

14. Installation of sixteen (16) each propane gas lanterns atop proposed 8-foot brick columns:

a. Composition: Metal with glass pane
b. Color: Black with glass pane

15. Installation of 3’ x 3’ (9 square feet) mop station at building’s northeast exterior corner;

16. Construction of brick 4* x 4’ (16 square feet) disabled-access restroom addition at
building’s southeast exterior corner (obstructing the existing secondary entryway):

a. Exterior wall paint color: Off-white
b. Roof: Pitched with blue roofing tiles (relocated from historic structure)

c. Architectural detailing, fenestration, appurtenant features and fixtures:
Unspecified

Item number 15 and 16 has been removed from the application.

Following discussion Mr. Boyd made a motion to approve the plantings in the planters. It is also
recommended that they have six propane gas lanterns on the brick columns. They will be black
with glass panes. Mr. Adams seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: GOLDEN, ADAMS,
BOYD, FALCON, ROSENKE and STOKES. MOTION PASSED.

17. Removal of existing and installation of copper gutters and aluminum downspouts;
aluminum will be painted to match copper coloring;

18. Painting of on-premises steel sign fixture (pole) and installation of new sign face on
existing bracket:

a. Paint color: Unspecified
b. Sign detail: 4’ x 5°6”

Following discussion for items number 17 and 18 Mr. Adams made a motion to approve number
17 as proposed. Number 18 be approved to include that the applicant give further consideration
to modify the sign to look more like the old Pure Oil signs upon approval by Planning Staff.
Chairman Golden requested Staff to provide graphics. Ms. Falcon seconded the motion. ALL
IN FAVOR: GOLDEN, ADAMS, BOYD, FALCON, ROSENKE and STOKES. MOTION
PASSED.

19. Removal and replacement of existing concrete along front (E Main Street) elevation;
20. Installation of a brick and travertine limestone-paved walkway and water fountain:

a. Coverage area/Walkway dimensions: Unspecified
b. Fountain composition and detail: Unspecified

Page 13 of 15
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting
December 12, 2013



c. Impervious (brick/limestone) pattern: Unspecified
d. Brick and Limestone Color: Unspecified

Chairman Golden asked if the applicants were planning on removing all of the concrete. Mr.
Gordon stated that they are planning to remove the concrete on the Main Street side as well as
the Water Street side from the building up to the sidewalk. Chairman Golden asked if the new
parking will be concrete. Mr. Hoffer stated yes. Ms. Stokes stated that she did not see a problem
with that. Mr. Gordon stated that the concrete that is there now is so broken up and uneven that
it needs to be replaced. Chairman Golden asked for Mr. Gordon to tell more about the walkway.
She stated that obviously it is from the gate to the stoop in front of the front door. Mr. Hoffer
stated that it will be bricks winding up to the front door. When you get to the step the incline
will curve up. Inside they will have to cut off the bottom of the door perhaps an inch to level
with the flooring inside. There will be no steps.

Ms. Falcon stated that she had a question regarding the brick and travertine pavers. She asked if
the applicant was using a mix of the two materials. Mr. Hoffer stated yes. Ms. Falcon stated that
she wonders if it would like more continuous and spacious given that it is a small area just to
have one material color wise. Mr. Hoffer stated that he thinks it breaks up not just having a plain
surface. Ms. Falcon asked if they would have tables in that area. Mr. Hoffer stated yes. Ms.
Falcon stated that the tables would break it up, too. Ms. Cole stated that she thought that area
was to be grass. Mr. Hoffer stated it will be grass outside the patio area. Chairman Golden
stated that there will be no grass in between pavers. Mr. Hoffer stated there will be concrete and
sand. Ms. Cole stated the last thing that Staff would like to offer regarding the brick is that there
are quite a few of the brick pavers left from the street being pulled up that can be offered and
incorporated in this project. Ms. Rosenke asked if it could be considered that the parking lot be
brick or have a permeable parking instead of the concrete. Chairman Golden stated yes and it
would be much more conducive to runoff and drainage. Mr. Hoffer asked what kind of bricks
are they? Ms. Cole stated that Baltimore bricks were used to pave the streets downtown
originally. They exist still on Fearing and all of Seldon Street.

Chairman Golden stated that the walk way dimensions will be determined by the width of the
court. It all has to be coordinated. Mr. Hoffer stated that it will be wider than the door people
will walk through. Chairman Golden stated that she has questions regarding the fountain. She
asked the Commission members if they had questions or comments regarding the fountain. Mr.
Boyd asked how close the picture to the real fountain was. Ms. Hoffer stated that the photo was
just a fair rendering. She stated that she hasn’t gotten a final rendering. It is something that they
thought that could be considered. Mr. Hoffer stated that they would submit the actual fountain.
Chairman Golden asked if they would bring it back to the Commission. Ms. Hoffer stated that
they have not picked the actually fountain. Chairman Golden asked that the applicants keep size
in mind when looking. She asked if they would consider the fountain to be a painted piece. Ms.
Hoffer stated that she doesn’t know what the materials would be.

Following discussion Chairman Golden asked for a motion on items number 19 and 20. Ms.
Stokes made a motion to approve number 19, the removal and placement of concrete as
submitted. Also, approval for item number 20, the installation of a brick and travertine walkway
and approval of the water fountain subject to approval of Planning Staff. It is also recommended
that the Baltimore bricks from the City be utilized with assistance from Planning Staff. Mr.
Boyd seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: GOLDEN, ADAMS, BOYD, ROSENKE and
STOKES. MOTION PASSED. ALL OPPOSED: FALCON.

Page 14 of 15
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting
December 12, 2013



Ms. Falcon felt that both the brick and travertine should not be used. She stated that it should be
all brick.

21. Installation of trellis and urns along party walls (Port Discover and (former) Southern
Yankee Boutique buildings):

a. Height (above grade): 10’
b. Color: Painted to match/blend with party wall coloring
c. Composition/Footing: Unspecified

After some discussion regarding the placement and types of trellis and urns a motion was made
by Mr. Boyd to table item number 21 to be heard at a later date so the applicants may present
more information. Ms. Falcon seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: GOLDEN, ADAMS,
BOYD, FALCON, ROSENKE and STOKES. MOTION PASSED.

Ms. Cole stated that the Commission had copies of the Preservation Conference that was
attended this year. One thing that was suggested at the conference on the Commission level was
that the Commission work closer with their downtown partners such as ECDI and the Chamber
in doing annual reporting along with regular meetings.

Ms. Cole stated that Staff had no old business. Regarding new business, there was a
Commissioner appointed to this body, Mr. Gunter. As quickly as he was appointed he has had to
resign for personal reason. So, there is a vacancy on the Commission. Ms. Cole stated that she
had a couple of names to recommend to the Mayor and City Manager. One is Doris Johnson, a
recent applicant before this body for the Island Breeze. She currently lives on West Church
Street. The other is Jesse Stallings. He currently lives on Dyer Street.

Also under new business is the election of officers. Ms. Cole stated that the Commission needs
to elect both Chair and Vice-chair.

Chairman Golden asked for nominations for the Chair of the Commission. Ms. Rosenke
nominated Ms. Golden. Mr. Boyd seconded the motion. All were in favor. Motion passed.

Chairman Golden asked for nominations for the Vice-chair of the Commission. Ms. Stokes
nominated Mr. Boyd. Ms. Rosenke seconded the motion. All were in favor. Motion passed.

Ms. Cole thanked the Commission for all of their work and asked that they give some
consideration to their 2014 goals and objectives. If there are items or issues that the Commission
would like Staff to take on, they can email their comments and concerns or present at the next
meeting.

With there being no further business, meeting was adjourned.

Respectfully submitted, Dawn Harris, Recorder

Page 15 of 15
Historic Preservation Commission Meeting
December 12, 2013



